
 

AGENDA 

 
 



 

1 

 

 CITY OF HOPEWELL 
Hopewell, Virginia 23860 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
Jackie M. Shornak, Mayor, Ward #7 

Jasmine E. Gore, Vice Mayor, Ward #4 
Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Councilor, Ward #1 

Arlene Holloway, Councilor, Ward #2 
Anthony J. Zevgolis, Councilor, Ward #3 

Janice Denton, Councilor, Ward #5 
Brenda S. Pelham, Councilor, Ward #6 

 
John M. Altman, Jr., City Manager 

Stefan M. Calos, City Attorney 
Ronnieye L. Arrington, City Clerk 

 

AGENDA 
 

PHONE: 541-2249 
FAX: 541-2248 

 

e-mail: info@hopewellva.gov 
www.hopewellva.gov 

rarrington@hopewellva.gov 

 Date: November 27, 2018 
2018 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING Closed Meeting:  6:30 p.m. 
Regular Meeting: 7:30 p.m. 

 

OPEN MEETING 

 

6:30 p.m. Call to order, roll call, and welcome to visitors 

 

PROPOSED MOTION: To go into closed meeting for (1) discussion and consideration of 

specific appointees of city council (boards and commissions); (2) discussion or 

consideration of the acquisition of real property for a public purpose, and of the disposition 

of publicly held real property, where discussion in an open meeting would adversely affect 

the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of city council; (3) consultation with legal 

counsel employed or retained by city council related thereto and regarding specific legal 

matters requiring the provision of legal advice by such counsel, in accordance with Virginia 

Code § 2.2-3711 (A), (1), (3), and (8), respectively. 

 

 Roll Call  

CLOSED MEETING 

 

RECONVENE OPEN MEETING 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO VIRGINIA CODE § 2.2-3712 (D): Were only public business 

matters (1) lawfully exempted from open-meeting requirements and (2) identified in the closed-

meeting motion discussed in closed meeting? 

 

Roll Call 

 

PROPOSED MOTION: To amend the order of the agenda to enable city council to vote on 

appointees prior to regular business, and to adopt the agenda as so amended. 

 

Roll Call  

mailto:info@hopewellva.gov
http://www.hopewellva.gov/


 

2 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

 

7:30 p.m.   Call to order, roll call, and welcome to visitors 

 

Prayer by Rev. Michael Wyche of John Randolph Pastoral Care, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance 

to the Flag of the United States of America led by Councilor Luman-Bailey. 
 

Consent Agenda 
All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered routine by Council and will be approved or 

received by one motion in the form listed. Items may be removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion 

under the regular agenda at the request of any Councilor. 

 

C-1 Minutes:  All minutes not yet approved by Council (separate attachment) 

C-2 Pending List:  Attached 

C-3 Routine Approval of Work Sessions:  

C-4 Personnel Change Report & Financial Report:  Attached 

C-5 Ordinances on Second & Final Reading:  Personal Property Tax Relief for Disable 

Veterans 

C-6 Routine Grant Approval:  

C-7 Public Hearing Announcement:  

C-8 Information for Council Review: Minutes: Appomattox Regional Library System-October 

16, 2018; Architectural Review Board – September 24, 2018; Community Policy & 

Management Team – October 15, 2018 and October 16, 2018, Electoral Board – November 

1, 2018 

C-9 Resolutions/Proclamations/Presentations: American Legion Centennial Day; National 

Adoption Month; NLC Annual Business Meeting 

C-10 Additional Announcements: Holiday Boat Parade; Light Up the Night; Virginia 

Recreation and Park Society Awards; Virginia Building Code Official Association award; 

Watoto Children’s Choir from Uganda performing at the Beacon 

 

Public Hearings 

CITY CLERK: All persons addressing Council shall approach the microphone, give name and, if they 

reside in Hopewell, their ward number, and limit comments to five minutes. No person shall be permitted 

to address Council a second time until all others have been heard, and no one may speak more than 

twice on any subject in any one meeting. All remarks shall be addressed to Council as a body, any 

questions must be asked through the mayor only, and there shall be no discussion without permission of 

the mayor. Any person who makes personal, impertinent, abusive, or slanderous statements, or incites 

disorderly conduct in Council Chambers may be barred by the mayor from further audience before 

Council, and removed, subject to appeal to a majority of Council. (See Rules 405 and 406) 

 

PH-1 Request for Conditional Use Permit 

 

ISSUE:  A request from Barber Construction Company, Inc. for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 

to build a single family detached dwelling on Sub-Parcel 035-0010 also identified as Lots 3-4, 

Block 5, Dupont Gardens, Section 2, within the Residential, Medium Density District (R-2) 

 

MOTION:            

 

             



 

3 

 

 Roll Call 

 

PH-2 Request for Vacation 

 

ISSUE:  A request from Hubert Swimelar, and James and Ruby Stanley to vacate a portion of 

undeveloped Trenton Street located between 1411 Pine Avenue and 1307 Pine Avenue 

 

MOTION:            

 

             

 Roll Call 

 

PH-3 Request for Addition to Permitted Uses Within M-2 

 

ISSUE:  A request from SRRS Inc. to consider adding training facility/school to the list of 

permitted uses within the Intensive Industrial District, (M-2).   

 

MOTION:            

 

             

 Roll Call 

 

PH-4 Request to Dispose of Public Property 

 

ISSUE:  A request to dispose of the public property and improvements at 402 East Poythress 

Street also identified as Lots 1, 2, 3 and 4, Block 24, West City Point Annex Subdivision, 

further identified as Sub-Parcel 079-0213. 

 

MOTION:            

 

             

 Roll Call 

 

 

Communications from Citizens 

CITY CLERK: A Communications from Citizens period, limited in total time to 30 minutes, is part of 

the Order of Business at each regular Council meeting. All persons addressing Council shall approach 

the microphone, give name and, if they reside in Hopewell, their ward number, and limit comments to 

three minutes. No one is permitted to speak on any item scheduled for consideration on the regular 

agenda of the meeting. All remarks shall be addressed to Council as a body, any questions must be asked 

through the mayor only, and there shall be no discussion without permission of the mayor. Any person 

who makes personal, impertinent, abusive, or slanderous statements, or incites disorderly conduct in 

Council Chambers, may be barred by the mayor from further audience before Council, and removed, 

subject to appeal to a majority of Council. (See Rules 405 and 406.) 

  



 

4 

 

 

 

Regular Business 

Reports of City Manager: 

 

R-1 Approval of disposition of public property 

ISSUE:  At the September 25, 2018 meeting, the Hopewell City Council held a public hearing 

in accordance with §15.2-1800 (Purchase, sale, use, etc., of real property) of the Code of Virginia 

to consider citizen comments regarding the disposition of the property identified above.  The City 

and the purchaser have agreed upon the terms of sale and Staff is now requesting City Council 

vote to approve the disposition of the property and authorize the City Manager to sign the 

development agreement.   

 

MOTION:            

 

             

 Roll Call 

 

 

R-2 Approval of Fire Department Grants 

 

ISSUE:  The Fire Department has received allocation letters and request budget increase under 

the grants line item.  These amounts will be reimbursed back to the City once the money has been 

spent. Fire Department Grants - 1. Regional Unmanned Aircraft System Equipment $34,000.  2. 

Crater Regional Technical Rescue Team Equipment $55,000.  3. Crater Regional Hazardous 

Materials Team Equipment $71,000 

 

MOTION:            

 

             

 Roll Call 

 

 

R-3 2019 Draft Legislative Priorities 

 

ISSUE:   In anticipation of the 2019 General Assembly Session, Administration has prepared the 

City’s Annual Legislative Priorities for presentation to the City’s Legislative Delegation, 

including the draft resolution. 

 

 MOTION:            
 

              

  Roll Call 

 

 

  



 

5 

 

 

 

Reports of the City Attorney:    

 

Reports of the City Clerk:  
 

Reports of City Council: 

 

 Committees  
 

 Individual Councilors   

Citizen/Councilor Requests 

  

  

CCR-1 Gore Participatory Budgeting 

 

CCR-2 Gore Community Policing and Shooting Taskforce 

 

Other Council Communications 

Adjournment 



 
REGULAR 
MEETING 

 



 

CONSENT 
AGENDA 

 



 

PENDING 

LIST 

 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

1 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

Beacon Update; RFP; Marketing Plan; Beacon LLC 
City Manager clarified that only the RFP has been completed so 
far; Shornak requested copy of RFP; Mayor suggested that RFP be 
dispensed to council at the same time as to the public, to which 
City Manager agreed; Shornak requested financial information for 
the Beacon, as well; City Attorney explained Beacon setup and 
why, and advised that LLC could be dissolved 3 years after last tax 
payment rec’d; Walton requested specific date re when LLC can be 
dissolved 
 

2-7-17 
 
 
2-21-17 

Date when LLC can be 
dissolved 
 
Mayor requested Plan when 
submitted. 

March Altman 
Stefan Calos 

ONGOING 
2/1/2018, if notice is given on the 
first possible business day of the 
year. 
2-7-17 Mr. Haley reported, Slap 
Productions hired, contract on 
year to year basis. 
 
1/1/2018 the LLC can proceed to 
purchase the interest of the State 
Investor Member (the 
"Fund").  The purchase would 
occur between 30 and 90 days 
after notice that the LLC is 
exercising its purchase option.   
 
2-13-18 – Council reviewed 
 
2-27-18 – to come back to 
Council 
 
2-27-18 – Discussed with Council 
in closed session – City Manager 
and City Attorney to present 
alternatives to Council 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

2 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

Revision of Council Rules and Procedures 
Breach of Confidentiality Sanctions 
VML training 
VML training for Directors, City Council and Admin 
Gore agreed to combine numbers 5, 10, 21 and 32 of this list into 
this numbered item.  Shornak and Zevgolis have completed draft 
Code of Ethics, which they passed out at meeting; Pelham said 
training should come first; Gore agreed to do VML training which 
would include emphasis on Ethics and Roberts Rules; City Manager 
to schedule training. 
 
 
 

2-9-15 
3-15-16 
2-7-17 
 
 
2-21-17 
 
 
 
 
3-13-17 

Council to review Code of 
Ethics & City Attorney to 
review Code of Ethics 
 
Vice Mayor requested 
Council Rules to be 
distributed to members of 
Council before the March 
17-18, 2017 Retreat. 
 
City Attorney emailed to all 
members of Council 3-13-17 
the proposed revisions for 
Council to review. 

March Altman 
Stefan Calos 
City Clerk 

PENDING 
 
2-19-18 - Council to provide next 
steps. 
 
Stefan Calos is providing revised 
rules in each agenda packet for 
Council review and approval and 
will continue to do so until all 
are done 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

3 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cost update on City taking control of Mallonee Gym 
 

6-19-17 
 
2-23-17 

Vice Mayor Gore is awaiting 
meeting dates from the 
Superintendent and will 
inform Mayor when those 
dates are received so they 
can meet. VM stated she 
had heard that Quotes have 
been sent to Mr. Ed Watson 
& requested City Manager 
to provide those quotes to 
her and the members of 
Council.  

March Altman 
Ed Watson 

PENDING 
Vice Mayor Gore requested 
meeting w/Hackney, Watson, 
Haley, etc. for 6-29-17 
 
7-7-17 – due to scheduling 
conflicts, meeting with Gore, 
Hackney, Watson, etc. is being 
rescheduled. 
 
Waiting on quote from Ed 
Watson re windows, 
bathroom and A/C unit to 
schedule meeting 
 
3-19-18 – Altman discussed 
with Watson. Will bring back 
before Council after budget 
session 
 
9-19-18 – Cost estimate has 
been completed.  Project will 
be submitted in FY20 CIP for 
Council consideration. 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

4 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Branding & City Logo’s; compile all used logos for 
approval.  
Council requested that Haley provide them with a list of 
the City’s logos and RFP for Branding 
 
 

5/12/15 
3-15-16 
2-7-17 
 
2-21-17 

Email/Printed logos 
collected used  
 
 
City Manager to provide RFP 
for Branding during the 
Retreat In March 2017. 

March Altman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PENDING 
6-23-17 email reminder sent to 
Haley 
 
City Manager to email council the 
list of City logos 
 
Haley will issue RFP re branding - 
Hopewell logo 
 
No RFP needed.  
 
THIS REQUIRES AN IMMEDIATE 
UPDATE FROM THE CITY 
MANAGER’S OFFICE 
 
3-19-18 – Altman will review and 
bring back options, proposals etc. 
 
9-19-18 City Manager to include 
proposal and budget request as 
part of FY20 budget 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

5 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Council wants to review and revise its travel policy 4-25-17 Current travel policy is 
outdated 
 
 

Council 
March Altman 

PENDING 
7-7-17 – Council to review it 
policy, along with its revised 
rules with Tyler St. Claire when 
Retreat is scheduled 
 
2-1-18 – Council to have a 
work session regarding its 
travel policy. 
 
3-18-18 – Altman to review 
existing employee travel 
policy; and to work with HR 
and Council re work session 
 
9-19-19 – Per Travel Policy, 
City Manager has adjusted 
the mileage reimbursement 
to be consistent with IRS 
policy. 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

6 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Council requested RFP/design for Riverwalk 
 

4-25-17 Council to be provided with 
a copy of the RFP that was 
issued or will be issued re 
the Riverwalk project 
 

March Altman PENDING 
7-7-17 - A copy of the RFP has 
been placed in your packets.  
Administration will appear 
before Council at the Aug. 8 
2017 meeting to discuss the 
Riverwalk project  
 
9-5-17 – sent email to Dane re 
status 
 
1-23-18 – Council has been 
updated on the status of the 
Riverwalk previously, and 
there will be a brief update 
provided at the 1-23-18 
meeting. 
 
3-19-18 – Altman will provide 
regular project updates 
 
9-19-18 – Phase I 
Groundbreaking to be held at 
City Park Friday, September 
28 at 2:00 p.m. 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

7 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Boards and Commission City Council Letter for Reports, 
Joint Meetings and Information (past/current/future 
projects; bylaws) 

2013-Present 
2-7-17 
 
2-21-17 
 
 
 
1-9-18 

Letter/Email Request and CC 
City Council 
 
Clerk to meet with Mayor 
for review of completed 
DRAFT letter. 

Council 
City Clerk 
 
 

PENDING 
Clerk prepare Letter for Mayor to 
send to the Boards & 
Commissions who are not 
sending minutes as required. 
 
1-9-18 - Vice Mayor Gore gave 
presentation to Council regarding 
status of boards and 
commissions and need for 
change. 
 
8-28-18 – City Clerk’s Office 
revised the Boards and 
Commissions list. Vice Mayor 
Gore presented the revised list 
and council approved it. Boards 
and Commissions Appreciation 
dinner scheduled for this year, 
which will coincide with 
marketing plan to bring people 
in 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

8 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 City Council and School Board to have additional joint 
meetings or to establish sub-committees 
 

3-1-18 Vice Mayor Gore School Board 
City Council 
March Altman 

COMPLETE 
3-18-18 – Superintendent 
Hackney and Altman have 
discussed re-establishing School 
Board City Council Facilities 
Committee 
 
8-14-18 – Council appointed two 
members of the school board to 
the School Facilities Committee 
(Joyner and Cuffey).  

 Work session with Human Resources to discuss HR Manual 
and employee travel policy 

1-9-18 Councilor Pelham 
Councilor Gore 

March Altman PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – City Manager and HR 
Director to review current policy 
and schedule work session to 
make recommendations for 
changes 
 
9-19-18 – Awaiting hiring of New 
HR Director 
 
10-20-18 – City Manager and HR 
Director will schedule work 
session next calendar year. 

 Repair five poles at shed by the dock – said the shed leans 
10 degrees. 

2-27-18 Councilor Zevgolis Aaron Reidmiller PENDING 

 Restore the National Park Service Waterfront Committee 
Status of planned workshop, secure new contacts 
 

2-27-18 Councilor Luman-Bailey Aaron Reidmiller PENDING 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

9 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Can we partner with Resource Conservation Development 
to aid with Community Garden in park 

2-27-18 Councilor Luman-Bailey March Altman 
Aaron Reidmiller 

PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – City 
Manager/Recreation Director to 
get with Community Garden 
specialist in other municipality 
 

 Obtain information about Workforce Initiative 
 

2-27-18 Vice Mayor Gore March Altman PENDING 

 Who to reach out to increase the allocation to youth 
services (Connie Townes) 
 

2-27-18 Vice Mayor Gore March Altman PENDING 

 Request for program for seniors who use their dumpsters 
sparingly and need to pay less 
 

1-23-18 Councilor Zevgolis Ed Watson COMPLETE 
 
8-28-18 this was discussed 
during the Council meeting and 
it was explained that this is not 
feasible due to the costs 
associated with the equipment 
needed to make this change. 

 Council wanted to confirm that Prince George was paying 
their part for the HPG Chamber. Since this was an ongoing 
problem, they want to confirm prior to the next budget 
session 

4-4-17 Council March Altman PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – Altman has discussed 
with Prince George – they are 
funding for this year – will 
discuss at FY20 budget 
 

 Current financial assessment of fiscal year 2017 12-2017 Gore 
Pelham 
 

March Altman 
Michael Terry 

PENDING 
 
9-19-18 - FY17 Audit is ongoing 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

10 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Request for City Manager to work on policies and 
procedures related to CSA, CPMT and FAPT 

3-6-18 Council March Altman PENDING 
 
CPMT is reviewing draft policies 
 

 Request to review credit card policy  Pelham March Altman PENDING 
 Boards & Commissions - Dock Commission – Councilors 

Luman-Bailey and Zevgolis will discuss the revival of the 
this Commission and come back to Council with a plan 

4-5-18 Council Christina Luman-
Bailey 
Anthony Zevgolis 

PENDING 

 Boards & Commissions – How much is the Planning 
Commission paid? 

4-5-18 Council Tevya Griffin PENDING 

 Requested a study to determine why there was so much 
trouble retaining Hopewell employees, especially police 
and fire; interested in employee retention; programs to 
encourage employees to live in the City 

3-27-18 Anthony Zevgolis 
Brenda Pelham 

March Altman 
John Keohane 

PENDING 

 Councilor Gore requested the data that was provided to 
Springsted prior to them creating their report. She 
specified the data that caused Springsted to make position 
and title changes. 

3-27-18 Jasmine Gore March Altman 
Renia Coles 

PENDING 

 Of the $75,000 set aside by Council for constitutional 
officers, how much has been used? For what? How much 
remains? 

3-27-18 Council March Altman PENDING 

 Request information regarding status of Fire Department 
collections from last year 

5-1-18 Council March Altman 
Donnie Hunter 

PENDING 

 Springsted Comp Study  5-15-18 Jasmine Gore March Altman 
Renia Coles 

PENDING 

      
 



 

PERSONNEL 
CHANGE 
REPORT 

& 
FINANCIAL 

REPORT 



 

 

 

DATE:  November 7, 2018 

TO:  The Honorable City Council 

FROM:  Michelle Ingram, Human Resources Specialist  

SUBJECT: Personnel Change Report – October 2018 

 

ADDITIONS (Regular FT and PT positions only) 

NAME DEPARTMENT POSITION DATE 
AGHA, SHWAN POLICE POLICE OFFICER 10/10/2018 

FERGUSON, DENISE GEN DIST COURT ADMIN ASST 10/22/2018 
HANNUKSELA, DONALD  SHERIFF P/T SHERIFF DEPUTY 10/10/2018 

HORNE, BRYAN WATER RENEWAL ELEC & INST TECH SR 10/24/2018 
JONES, ALVIN  PUBLIC WORKS P/T ST MAINT WORK 10/02/2018 

 

SEPARATIONS 

NAME DEPARTMENT POSITION DATE 
FERGUSON, DENISE GEN DIST COURT ADMIN ASST 10/26/2018 

GOODWYN, EVERETTE RECREATION P/T VAN DRIVER 10/31/2018 
HORNE, BRYAN WATER RENEWAL ELEC & INST TECH SR 10/26/2018 

 
 
 
March Altman, City Manager     Concetta Manker, IT Director 
Charles Dane, Assistant City Manager   Jay Rezin, IT 
Jennifer Sears, Interim HR Director   Carol Scarbrough, Parks & Rec   
Dave Harless, Risk & Safety Coordinator  Kim Hunter, Payroll 
Debbie Pershing, Administrative Services Manager 
Michael Terry, Finance Director 
Dipo Muritala, Assistant Finance Director 

 
  























 

ORDINANCES 

ON SECOND 

& FINAL 

READING 

 
 



 

ORDINANCE 2018-XX 

 
An Ordinance amending and reenacting Article III, Tax on Public Service Corporations 

and Tangible Personal Property Other than Machinery and Tools of Chapter 34, Taxation, 
of the Code of the City of Hopewell. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF HOPEWELL that Article III, Tax 
on Public Service Corporations and Tangible Personal Property Other than Machinery and Tools 
of Chapter 34, Taxation, of the Code of the City of Hopewell is amended and reenacted as 
follows: 
 

CHAPTER 34 – TAXATION 
 

ARTICLE III. TAX ON PUBLIC SERVICE CORPORATIONS AND TANGIBLE 
PERSONAL PROPERTY OTHER THAN MACHINERY AND TOOLS 

 

Sec. 34-47. - Tax exemption for motor vehicles of certain veterans.  
One motor vehicle owned and regularly used by a veteran who meets the requirements of 

Virginia Code § 58.1-3506(A)(6), as certified to the commissioner of revenue in writing by the 
Virginia Department of Veterans Services, shall be exempt from taxation under this article.  
 

State law reference—Virginia Code § 58.1-3506 (Other classifications of tangible personal 
property for taxation) (1950, as amended). 

In accordance with City Charter Chapter IV, Sec. 7 (Effective date of ordinances and 
resolutions; emergency measures), this ordinance shall become effective after 30 days from the 
date of its adoption by City Council. 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0.5"



Code of Virginia
Title 58.1. Taxation
Chapter 35. Tangible Personal Property, Machinery and Tools and Merchants' Capital
    
§ 58.1-3506. Other classifications of tangible personal property
for taxation
  
A. The items of property set forth below are each declared to be a separate class of property and
shall constitute a classification for local taxation separate from other classifications of tangible
personal property provided in this chapter:
  
1. a. Boats or watercraft weighing five tons or more, not used solely for business purposes;
  
b. Boats or watercraft weighing less than five tons, not used solely for business purposes;
  
2. Aircraft having a maximum passenger seating capacity of no more than 50 that are owned and
operated by scheduled air carriers operating under certificates of public convenience and
necessity issued by the State Corporation Commission or the Civil Aeronautics Board;
  
3. Aircraft having a registered empty gross weight equal to or greater than 20,000 pounds that are
not owned or operated by scheduled air carriers recognized under federal law, but not including
any aircraft described in subdivision 4;
  
4. Aircraft that are (i) considered Warbirds, manufactured and intended for military use,
excluding those manufactured after 1954, and (ii) used only for (a) exhibit or display to the
general public and otherwise used for educational purposes (including such flights as are
necessary for testing, maintaining, or preparing such aircraft for safe operation), or (b) airshow
and flight demonstrations (including such flights necessary for testing, maintaining, or preparing
such aircraft for safe operation), shall constitute a new class of property. Such class of property
shall not include any aircraft used for commercial purposes, including transportation and other
services for a fee;
  
5. All other aircraft not included in subdivisions A 2, A 3, or A 4 and flight simulators;
  
6. Antique motor vehicles as defined in § 46.2-100 which may be used for general transportation
purposes as provided in subsection C of § 46.2-730;
  
7. Tangible personal property used in a research and development business;
  
8. Heavy construction machinery not used for business purposes, including land movers,
bulldozers, front-end loaders, graders, packers, power shovels, cranes, pile drivers, forest
harvesting and silvicultural activity equipment and ditch and other types of diggers;
  
9. Generating equipment purchased after December 31, 1974, for the purpose of changing the
energy source of a manufacturing plant from oil or natural gas to coal, wood, wood bark, wood
residue, or any other alternative energy source for use in manufacturing and any cogeneration
equipment purchased to achieve more efficient use of any energy source. Such generating
equipment and cogeneration equipment shall include, without limitation, such equipment
purchased by firms engaged in the business of generating electricity or steam, or both;
  
10. Vehicles without motive power, used or designed to be used as manufactured homes as
defined in § 36-85.3;

1 10/4/2018

/vacode/46.2-100/
/vacode/46.2-730/
/vacode/36-85.3/


  
11. Computer hardware used by businesses primarily engaged in providing data processing
services to other nonrelated or nonaffiliated businesses;
  
12. Privately owned pleasure boats and watercraft, 18 feet and over, used for recreational
purposes only;
  
13. Privately owned vans with a seating capacity of not less than seven nor more than 15 persons,
including the driver, used exclusively pursuant to a ridesharing arrangement as defined in § 46.2-
1400;
  
14. Motor vehicles specially equipped to provide transportation for physically handicapped
individuals;
  
15. Motor vehicles (i) owned by members of a volunteer emergency medical services agency or a
member of a volunteer fire department or (ii) leased by volunteer emergency medical services
personnel or a member of a volunteer fire department if the volunteer is obligated by the terms
of the lease to pay tangible personal property tax on the motor vehicle. One motor vehicle that is
owned by each volunteer member who meets the definition of "emergency medical services
personnel" in § 32.1-111.1 or volunteer fire department member, or leased by each volunteer
member who meets the definition of "emergency medical services personnel" in § 32.1-111.1 or
volunteer fire department member if the volunteer is obligated by the terms of the lease to pay
tangible personal property tax on the motor vehicle, may be specially classified under this
section, provided the volunteer regularly responds to emergency calls. The volunteer shall
furnish the commissioner of revenue, or other assessing officer, with a certification by the chief
of the volunteer emergency medical services agency or volunteer fire department, that the
volunteer is an individual who meets the definition of "emergency medical services personnel" in
§ 32.1-111.1 or a member of the volunteer fire department who regularly responds to calls or
regularly performs other duties for the emergency medical services agency or fire department,
and the motor vehicle owned or leased by the volunteer is identified. The certification shall be
submitted by January 31 of each year to the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer;
however, the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer shall be authorized, in his
discretion, and for good cause shown and without fault on the part of the volunteer, to accept a
certification after the January 31 deadline. In any county that prorates the assessment of tangible
personal property pursuant to § 58.1-3516, a replacement vehicle may be certified and classified
pursuant to this subsection when the vehicle certified as of the immediately prior January date is
transferred during the tax year;
  
16. Motor vehicles (i) owned by auxiliary members of a volunteer emergency medical services
agency or volunteer fire department or (ii) leased by auxiliary members of a volunteer emergency
medical services agency or volunteer fire department if the auxiliary member is obligated by the
terms of the lease to pay tangible personal property tax on the motor vehicle. One motor vehicle
that is regularly used by each auxiliary volunteer fire department or emergency medical services
agency member may be specially classified under this section. The auxiliary member shall furnish
the commissioner of revenue, or other assessing officer, with a certification by the chief of the
volunteer emergency medical services agency or volunteer fire department, that the volunteer is
an auxiliary member of the volunteer emergency medical services agency or fire department who
regularly performs duties for the emergency medical services agency or fire department, and the
motor vehicle is identified as regularly used for such purpose; however, if a volunteer meets the
definition of "emergency medical services personnel" in § 32.1-111.1 or volunteer fire

2 10/4/2018

/vacode/46.2-1400/
/vacode/46.2-1400/
/vacode/32.1-111.1/
/vacode/32.1-111.1/
/vacode/32.1-111.1/
/vacode/58.1-3516/
/vacode/32.1-111.1/


department member and an auxiliary member are members of the same household, that
household shall be allowed no more than two special classifications under this subdivision or
subdivision 15. The certification shall be submitted by January 31 of each year to the
commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer; however, the commissioner of revenue or
other assessing officer shall be authorized, in his discretion, and for good cause shown and
without fault on the part of the auxiliary member, to accept a certification after the January 31
deadline;
  
17. Motor vehicles owned by a nonprofit organization and used to deliver meals to homebound
persons or provide transportation to senior or handicapped citizens in the community to carry
out the purposes of the nonprofit organization;
  
18. Privately owned camping trailers as defined in § 46.2-100, and privately owned travel trailers
as defined in § 46.2-1500, which are used for recreational purposes only, and privately owned
trailers as defined in § 46.2-100, which are designed and used for the transportation of horses
except those trailers described in subdivision A 11 of § 58.1-3505;
  
19. One motor vehicle owned and regularly used by a veteran who has either lost, or lost the use
of, one or both legs, or an arm or a hand, or who is blind or who is permanently and totally
disabled as certified by the Department of Veterans Services. In order to qualify, the veteran shall
provide a written statement to the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer from the
Department of Veterans Services that the veteran has been so designated or classified by the
Department of Veterans Services as to meet the requirements of this section, and that his
disability is service-connected. For purposes of this section, a person is blind if he meets the
provisions of § 46.2-100;
  
20. Motor vehicles (i) owned by persons who have been appointed to serve as auxiliary police
officers pursuant to Article 3 (§ 15.2-1731 et seq.) of Chapter 17 of Title 15.2 or (ii) leased by
persons who have been so appointed to serve as auxiliary police officers if the person is obligated
by the terms of the lease to pay tangible personal property tax on the motor vehicle. One motor
vehicle that is regularly used by each auxiliary police officer to respond to auxiliary police duties
may be specially classified under this section. In order to qualify for such classification, any
auxiliary police officer who applies for such classification shall identify the vehicle for which this
classification is sought, and shall furnish the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer
with a certification from the governing body that has appointed such auxiliary police officer or
from the official who has appointed such auxiliary officers. That certification shall state that the
applicant is an auxiliary police officer who regularly uses a motor vehicle to respond to auxiliary
police duties, and it shall state that the vehicle for which the classification is sought is the
vehicle that is regularly used for that purpose. The certification shall be submitted by January 31
of each year to the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer; however, the
commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer shall be authorized, in his discretion, and for
good cause shown and without fault on the part of the member, to accept a certification after the
January 31 deadline;
  
21. Until the first to occur of June 30, 2019, or the date that a special improvements tax is no
longer levied under § 15.2-4607 on property within a Multicounty Transportation Improvement
District created pursuant to Chapter 46 (§ 15.2-4600 et seq.) of Title 15.2, tangible personal
property that is used in manufacturing, testing, or operating satellites within a Multicounty
Transportation Improvement District, provided that such business personal property is put into
service within the District on or after July 1, 1999;

3 10/4/2018

/vacode/46.2-100/
/vacode/46.2-1500/
/vacode/46.2-100/
/vacode/58.1-3505/
/vacode/46.2-100/
/vacode/15.2-1731/
/vacode/15.2-4607/
/vacode/15.2-4600/


  
22. Motor vehicles which use clean special fuels as defined in § 46.2-749.3, which shall not
include any vehicle described in subdivision 38 or 40;
  
23. Wild or exotic animals kept for public exhibition in an indoor or outdoor facility that is
properly licensed by the federal government, the Commonwealth, or both, and that is properly
zoned for such use. "Wild animals" means any animals that are found in the wild, or in a wild
state, within the boundaries of the United States, its territories or possessions. "Exotic animals"
means any animals that are found in the wild, or in a wild state, and are native to a foreign
country;
  
24. Furniture, office, and maintenance equipment, exclusive of motor vehicles, that are owned
and used by an organization whose real property is assessed in accordance with § 58.1-3284.1
and that is used by that organization for the purpose of maintaining or using the open or
common space within a residential development;
  
25. Motor vehicles, trailers, and semitrailers with a gross vehicle weight of 10,000 pounds or
more used to transport property for hire by a motor carrier engaged in interstate commerce;
  
26. All tangible personal property employed in a trade or business other than that described in
subdivisions A 1 through A 20, except for subdivision A 18, of § 58.1-3503;
  
27. Programmable computer equipment and peripherals employed in a trade or business;
  
28. Privately owned pleasure boats and watercraft, motorized and under 18 feet, used for
recreational purposes only;
  
29. Privately owned pleasure boats and watercraft, nonmotorized and under 18 feet, used for
recreational purposes only;
  
30. Privately owned motor homes as defined in § 46.2-100 that are used for recreational purposes
only;
  
31. Tangible personal property used in the provision of Internet services. For purposes of this
subdivision, "Internet service" means a service, including an Internet Web-hosting service, that
enables users to access content, information, electronic mail, and the Internet as part of a
package of services sold to customers;
  
32. Motor vehicles (i) owned by persons who serve as auxiliary, reserve, volunteer, or special
deputy sheriffs or (ii) leased by persons who serve as auxiliary, reserve, volunteer, or special
deputy sheriffs if the person is obligated by the terms of the lease to pay tangible personal
property tax on the motor vehicle. For purposes of this subdivision, the term "auxiliary deputy
sheriff" means auxiliary, reserve, volunteer, or special deputy sheriff. One motor vehicle that is
regularly used by each auxiliary deputy sheriff to respond to auxiliary deputy sheriff duties may
be specially classified under this section. In order to qualify for such classification, any auxiliary
deputy sheriff who applies for such classification shall identify the vehicle for which this
classification is sought, and shall furnish the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer
with a certification from the governing body that has appointed such auxiliary deputy sheriff or
from the official who has appointed such auxiliary deputy sheriff. That certification shall state
that the applicant is an auxiliary deputy sheriff who regularly uses a motor vehicle to respond to
such auxiliary duties, and it shall state that the vehicle for which the classification is sought is
the vehicle that is regularly used for that purpose. The certification shall be submitted by January

4 10/4/2018

/vacode/46.2-749.3/
/vacode/58.1-3284.1/
/vacode/58.1-3503/
/vacode/46.2-100/


31 of each year to the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer; however, the
commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer shall be authorized, in his discretion, and for
good cause shown and without fault on the part of the member, to accept a certification after the
January 31 deadline;
  
33. Forest harvesting and silvicultural activity equipment;
  
34. Equipment used primarily for research, development, production, or provision of
biotechnology for the purpose of developing or providing products or processes for specific
commercial or public purposes, including medical, pharmaceutical, nutritional, and other health-
related purposes; agricultural purposes; or environmental purposes but not for human cloning
purposes as defined in § 32.1-162.21 or for products or purposes related to human embryo stem
cells. For purposes of this section, biotechnology equipment means equipment directly used in
activities associated with the science of living things;
  
35. Boats or watercraft weighing less than five tons, used for business purposes only;
  
36. Boats or watercraft weighing five tons or more, used for business purposes only;
  
37. Tangible personal property which is owned and operated by a service provider who is not a
CMRS provider and is not licensed by the FCC used to provide, for a fee, wireless broadband
Internet service. For purposes of this subdivision, "wireless broadband Internet service" means a
service that enables customers to access, through a wireless connection at an upload or download
bit rate of more than one megabyte per second, Internet service, as defined in § 58.1-602, as part
of a package of services sold to customers;
  
38. Low-speed vehicles as defined in § 46.2-100;
  
39. Motor vehicles with a seating capacity of not less than 30 persons, including the driver;
  
40. Motor vehicles powered solely by electricity;
  
41. Tangible personal property designed and used primarily for the purpose of manufacturing a
product from renewable energy as defined in § 56-576;
  
42. Motor vehicles leased by a county, city, town, or constitutional officer if the locality or
constitutional officer is obligated by the terms of the lease to pay tangible personal property tax
on the motor vehicle;
  
43. Computer equipment and peripherals used in a data center. For purposes of this subdivision,
"data center" means a facility whose primary services are the storage, management, and
processing of digital data and is used to house (i) computer and network systems, including
associated components such as servers, network equipment and appliances, telecommunications,
and data storage systems; (ii) systems for monitoring and managing infrastructure performance;
(iii) equipment used for the transformation, transmission, distribution, or management of at
least one megawatt of capacity of electrical power and cooling, including substations,
uninterruptible power supply systems, all electrical plant equipment, and associated air
handlers; (iv) Internet-related equipment and services; (v) data communications connections;
(vi) environmental controls; (vii) fire protection systems; and (viii) security systems and services;
  
44. Motor vehicles (i) owned by persons who serve as uniformed members of the Virginia Defense
Force pursuant to Article 4.2 (§ 44-54.4 et seq.) of Chapter 1 of Title 44 or (ii) leased by persons

5 10/4/2018

/vacode/32.1-162.21/
/vacode/58.1-602/
/vacode/46.2-100/
/vacode/56-576/
/vacode/44-54.4/


who serve as uniformed members of the Virginia Defense Force pursuant to Article 4.2 (§ 44-54.4
et seq.) of Chapter 1 of Title 44 if the person is obligated by the terms of the lease to pay tangible
personal property tax on the motor vehicle. One motor vehicle that is regularly used by a
uniformed member of the Virginia Defense Force to respond to his official duties may be
specially classified under this section. In order to qualify for such classification, any person who
applies for such classification shall identify the vehicle for which the classification is sought and
shall furnish to the commissioner of the revenue or other assessing officer a certification from
the Adjutant General of the Department of Military Affairs under § 44-11. That certification shall
state that (a) the applicant is a uniformed member of the Virginia Defense Force who regularly
uses a motor vehicle to respond to his official duties, and (b) the vehicle for which the
classification is sought is the vehicle that is regularly used for that purpose. The certification
shall be submitted by January 31 of each year to the commissioner of the revenue or other
assessing officer; however, the commissioner of revenue or other assessing officer shall be
authorized, in his discretion, and for good cause shown and without fault on the part of the
member, to accept a certification after the January 31 deadline;
  
45. If a locality has adopted an ordinance pursuant to subsection D of § 58.1-3703, tangible
personal property of a business that qualifies under such ordinance for the first two tax years in
which the business is subject to tax upon its personal property pursuant to this chapter. If a
locality has not adopted such ordinance, this classification shall apply to the tangible personal
property for such first two tax years of a business that otherwise meets the requirements of
subsection D of § 58.1-3703;
  
46. Miscellaneous and incidental tangible personal property employed in a trade or business that
is not classified as machinery and tools pursuant to Article 2 (§ 58.1-3507 et seq.), merchants'
capital pursuant to Article 3 (§ 58.1-3509 et seq.), or short-term rental property pursuant to
Article 3.1 (§ 58.1-3510.4 et seq.), and has an original cost of less than $500. A county, city, or
town shall allow a taxpayer to provide an aggregate estimate of the total cost of all such property
owned by the taxpayer that qualifies under this subdivision, in lieu of a specific, itemized list;
and
  
47. Commercial fishing vessels and property permanently attached to such vessels.
  
B. The governing body of any county, city or town may levy a tax on the property enumerated in
subsection A at different rates from the tax levied on other tangible personal property. The rates
of tax and the rates of assessment shall (i) for purposes of subdivisions A 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 11
through 20, 22 through 24, and 26 through 47, not exceed that applicable to the general class of
tangible personal property, (ii) for purposes of subdivisions A 7, 9, 21, and 25, not exceed that
applicable to machinery and tools, and (iii) for purposes of subdivision A 10, equal that
applicable to real property. If an item of personal property is included in multiple classifications
under subsection A, then the rate of tax shall be the lowest rate assigned to such classifications.
  
C. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, for any qualifying vehicle, as such term is
defined in § 58.1-3523, (i) included in any separate class of property in subsection A and (ii)
assessed for tangible personal property taxes by a county, city, or town receiving a payment from
the Commonwealth under Chapter 35.1 (§ 58.1-3523 et seq.) for providing tangible personal
property tax relief, the county, city, or town may levy the tangible personal property tax on such
qualifying vehicle at a rate not to exceed the rates of tax and rates of assessment required under
such chapter.
  

6 10/4/2018

/vacode/44-54.4/
/vacode/44-11/
/vacode/58.1-3703/
/vacode/58.1-3703/
/vacode/58.1-3507/
/vacode/58.1-3509/
/vacode/58.1-3510.4/
/vacode/58.1-3523/
/vacode/58.1-3523/


Code 1950, §§ 58-829.2:1, 58-829.3, 58-829.5 to 58-829.9, 58-831.01; 1960, c. 418; 1970, c. 655;
1976, c. 567; 1978, c. 155; 1979, cc. 351, 576; 1980, c. 412; 1981, cc. 236, 445; 1982, c. 633; 1984,
c. 675; 1985, c. 220; 1986, c. 195; 1988, c. 822; 1989, cc. 80, 694; 1990, cc. 677, 693; 1991, cc. 247,
330, 478; 1992, cc. 642, 680; 1993, c. 100; 1994, cc. 171, 221, 266, 631;1995, c. 142;1996, cc. 537,
603, 605;1997, cc. 244, 250, 433, 457;1999, cc. 289, 358;2000, cc. 409, 413, 441, 442, 604;2001, cc.
41, 447;2002, cc. 6, 63, 148, 337;2003, cc. 657, 670;2004, cc. 4, 556, 591;2004, Sp. Sess. I, c. 1;
2005, cc. 271, 325, 357;2006, cc. 200, 231, 400;2007, cc. 88, 322, 609;2008, cc. 26, 94, 143;2009,
cc. 40, 44;2010, cc. 264, 849;2012, cc. 97, 288;2013, cc. 39, 271, 287, 393, 652;2014, cc. 50, 409;
2015, cc. 487, 502, 503, 593, 615;2016, c. 483;2017, cc. 116, 447;2018, cc. 28, 292.
  
The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section
may not constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose
provisions have expired.
  

7 10/4/2018

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?941+ful+CHAP0171
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?941+ful+CHAP0221
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?941+ful+CHAP0266
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?941+ful+CHAP0631
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?941+ful+CHAP0631
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?951+ful+CHAP0142
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?951+ful+CHAP0142
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?961+ful+CHAP0537
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?961+ful+CHAP0603
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?961+ful+CHAP0605
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?961+ful+CHAP0605
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?971+ful+CHAP0244
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?971+ful+CHAP0250
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?971+ful+CHAP0433
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?971+ful+CHAP0457
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?971+ful+CHAP0457
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?991+ful+CHAP0289
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?991+ful+CHAP0358
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?991+ful+CHAP0358
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0409
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0413
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0441
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0442
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0604
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?001+ful+CHAP0604
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?011+ful+CHAP0041
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?011+ful+CHAP0447
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?011+ful+CHAP0447
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?021+ful+CHAP0006
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?021+ful+CHAP0063
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?021+ful+CHAP0148
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?021+ful+CHAP0337
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?021+ful+CHAP0337
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?031+ful+CHAP0657
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?031+ful+CHAP0670
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?031+ful+CHAP0670
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?041+ful+CHAP0004
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?041+ful+CHAP0556
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?041+ful+CHAP0591
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?041+ful+CHAP0591
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?042+ful+CHAP0001
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?042+ful+CHAP0001
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?051+ful+CHAP0271
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?051+ful+CHAP0325
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?051+ful+CHAP0357
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?051+ful+CHAP0357
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0200
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0231
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0400
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0400
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?071+ful+CHAP0088
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?071+ful+CHAP0322
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?071+ful+CHAP0609
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?071+ful+CHAP0609
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?081+ful+CHAP0026
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?081+ful+CHAP0094
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?081+ful+CHAP0143
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?081+ful+CHAP0143
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0040
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0044
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0044
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?101+ful+CHAP0264
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?101+ful+CHAP0849
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?101+ful+CHAP0849
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?121+ful+CHAP0097
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?121+ful+CHAP0288
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?121+ful+CHAP0288
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0039
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0271
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0287
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0393
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0652
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0652
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0050
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0409
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0409
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0487
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0502
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0503
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0593
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0615
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0615
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0483
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0483
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?171+ful+CHAP0116
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?171+ful+CHAP0447
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?171+ful+CHAP0447
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?181+ful+CHAP0028
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?181+ful+CHAP0292


  

INFORMATION 
FOR COUNCIL 

REVIEW 
 



























1 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT  

  

                                  
 
 
 
 

Hopewell Community Policy & Management Team  
 

Minutes of the Meeting 
 

October 15, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Present: Diana Barnes, District 19; Joseph Bizzell, Treasurer’s Office; Janice Denton, City 
Council; Joan Gosier, Fiscal Agent; Lauren Grounds, Private Provider; Jermaine Harris, 
Hopewell Public Schools; Woodrow Harris, Court Services; Raymond Spicer, Social Services 
Director; Chris Wright, Health Department  
 
 

Absent:  Anthony Zevgolis, City Council 

 
 

Others Present: Wanda Brown, CSA Manager; and Christene Teasley, CSA Senior 
Administrative Assistant   
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 I.    Call to Order - Chairman Barnes called the meeting to order at 2:10 p.m.    
 
 
 
 
 
 

II.    Adoption of Agenda – A motion was made by Joseph Bizzell and seconded by Janice 
Denton to adopt the October 15, 2018 meeting agenda with the addition of Thomas 
Brothers under Old Business.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
III.   Public Comments - None 
 
 
 
 

IV.   Approval of Minutes – A motion was made by Lauren Grounds and seconded by Ray   
 Spicer to approve the amended September 24, 2018 Minutes with the correction on page 
4, paragraph 3 changing seconded by Joseph Bizzell to seconded by Janice Denton.  The 
motion approving the amended minutes passed unanimously.  

 
 
 

V. Financial Report – Joseph Bizzell presented the CSA Financial Review & Update for July 1, 
2018 thru September 30, 2018.   He explained that for account 505712, program income 
was $501,963.31 and program expenses were $276,723.99.   Other items reviewed by 
Mr. Bizzell were CSA refunds of $4,189.91 and CSA administrative expenses totaling 
$27,323.95. 

 

Joan Gosier reviewed the CSA Performance Measures for FY2015 thru FY2017.  She 
explained that the chart shows a comparison between Hopewell CANS scores and 
statewide CANS scores that indicates a clear record of decline.     
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 

 
 
CMPT Minutes 
October 15, 2018 
 
 
 
.. 
 
 

 

VI.   Old Business 
A. Policy and Procedures – Diana Barnes stated that she would meet with Ray Spicer 

and Lauren Hovis on Wednesday, October 24th from 9:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. at the 
social services building for a work session to go over the policy and procedures 
manual.   She said they plan to attack as much of the manual as possible and 
report back to members at the November meeting.  Wanda Brown and Joan 
Gosier said that they plan on attending.  Ray Spicer stated that he would like to 
keep the group small.  Diana Barnes said that anyone is welcomed to join them. 
 

B. Thomas Brothers – Ray Spicer stated that the social services department had 
moved forward to implement Thomas Brothers.  He was hopeful that CSA could 
also benefit from utilizing the system.  A letter dated July 2016 was distributed 
and reviewed by Mr. Spicer.  He explained that 98 localities currently use the 
Thomas Brothers program to process their CSA payments and upload their CSA 
information directly to the Office of Comprehensive Services.  Wanda Brown 
stated that utilizing Thomas Brothers would be critical for accuracy and 
generating reports.   Ms. Brown stated that she was told the Munis system could 
perform the same processes as Thomas Brothers.  However, she has found that 
not to be true because there would be a cost to make program changes to Munis.  
Diana Barnes asked Ms. Gosier and Mr. Bizzell to initiate the conversation with 
the finance department about the cost.  Ms. Barnes said that if the City Manager 
still says no to Thomas Brothers, then CPMT would have to go in a different 
direction to make it work.  She said that she was going to work hard to find a 
solution before her time is up as Chair.  Ms. Barnes explained that the audit 
report questioned CSA generating purchase orders after services were 
performed.  Joan Gosier said that from an audit perspective, utilizing Thomas 
Brothers should be enough of a reason for solving the audit problem.  Mrs. Gosier 
stated that she would provide a flow chart of Munis and Thomas Brothers at the 
November meeting.  Mrs. Gosier asked Ms. Barnes to speak to the City Manager 
regarding this matter.    

 
VII.  New Business  

A. Long Range Goals/Strategic Plan – Diana Barnes stated that CSA is growing and 
changing a lot.  She recommends looking at some things CPMT wants to tackle 
and focus on, such as using community based services versus congregate care.  
Ms. Barnes feels that policy and procedures could be tied into the long-range 
goals and strategic plan.  Ray Spicer said that he served on the long-range 
goals/strategic plan committee four years ago.  He stated that the committee was 
very task driven but did not deliberate regarding vision because their backs were 
against the wall due to the audit. 

 
 
 



3 
 

 
 
 
CMPT Minutes 
October 15, 2018 

 

 
 

 

 

VIII. Closed Meeting – Chairman Barnes declared at 3:01 p.m. to enter into a Closed Meeting, 
pursuant to §2.2-3711(A) of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of discussing or 
considering child-specific purchase order requests, which is authorized by §2.2-3711(A)(4) 
of the Code of Virginia.    

 
 

IX. Open Session   
Chairman Barnes reconvened the open session at 4:06 p.m. 

 
 

Certification of Closed Meeting 
Pursuant to §2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia, the Community Policy and Management 
Team certify that, to the best of each member’s knowledge, (i) only public  business 
matters  lawfully exempt from  open meeting  requirements  under the Virginia Freedom 
of Information Act, and (ii) only such business matters as were identified in the motion by 
which the Closed Meeting was convened, heard, discussed, or considered.   Diana Barnes, 
Joseph Bizzell, Wanda Brown, Janice Denton,  Lauren Grounds, Jermaine Harris, Woody 
Harris,  Ray Spicer,  Chris Wright, and Anthony Zevgolis responding “yes.” 

 
 

 

A.     Approval of Purchase Order Request 
A motion was made by Joseph Bizzell, and seconded by Joan Gosier to approve 
and authorize the October 2018 total expenditures of $322,565.50, and to 
approve and authorize the remaining eleven (11) months of payment that was 
postponed for the LEAD Center, as discussed in closed session.  The motion 
passed, with Diana Barnes, Joseph Bizzell, Janice Denton, Joan Gosier, Laura 
Grounds, Jermaine Harris, Woody Harris, Ray Spicer, Chris Wright, and Anthony 
Zevgolis, voting “aye.”       
      

X. Items of Interest 
Diana Barnes reminded members of the policy and procedures work session on 
Wednesday, October 24th from 9:30 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. 

  
XI.  The next meeting is scheduled for November 19, 2018 @ 2:00 p.m. 
 
XII. Chairman Barnes adjourned the meeting at 4:15 p.m. 

XI.  

 
 
 
 
Approval of the October 15, 2018 Minutes   
Motion by:    
Seconded by:   
All members voting  



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

1 
 

MEETING OF THE ELECTORAL BOARD 

October 16, 2018 

MINUTES 

 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call and Welcome to Visitors 
 
Pledge Allegiance to the Flag –  

(a) Chairman Washington led the Board in the pledge of allegiance to the flag;  
(b) Opening Prayer/Invocation – Yolanda W. Stokes, Registrar 

 
(c) Roll Call: 

1. Patrick Washington – Present 
2. David Silvestro - Present 
3. Herbert Townes - Absent – Approved. 
4. Yolanda W. Stokes, Registrar- Present 

 
Patrick Washington, Chairman appointed Mr. David Silvestro as acting 
Secretary in the absence of the Secretary Mr. Herbert F. Townes. 
 

2. Quorum:  - The Chairman, Mr. Washington announced that a quorum had been 
established. 

3. In the absence of the Secretary, Mr. Herbert Townes, the Board voted to approve the 
August 22, 2018 meeting minutes at the next scheduled meeting. 
 
NOVEMBER 6, 2018 – GENERAL ELECTION: 
  

4. Setting of time(2) for the: 
a. Provisional Ballots – 10:00 a.m 
b. Canvass - Immediately following the 10:00 a.m. Provisional Ballots meeting. 

5. Chairman’s Report – 
a. Announced that there would be a General Election on November 6, 2018; 
b. Reminded that Poll Worker training would be held on October 23, 2018 at 

GunCotton, a local Hopewell business, at 10:00 a.m.  



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

2 
 

6. Secretary’s Report – 
a. Selection of Poll Workers: - It was properly moved by Mr. David Silvestro; and 

seconded by Chairman Washington that this matter would be moved to the end 
of the Agenda, and the Board would enter into “closed” session regarding the 
issue of Poll Workers, more specifically a personnel matter regarding a “resigned” 
staff member of the Registrar’s Office. 
 

b. Chairman Washington moved to amend the Agenda to place the matter at the end 
of the Agenda, seconded by Mr. David Silvestro, Vice Chairman to amend this 
agenda item. 

 
c.  Matter to be addressed at the end of the Regular agenda in “closed” session. 

 
7. Board Reports: 

a. David Silvestro: 
i. Mr. Silvestro gave an updated report of the request to the local 

government to move the Voter Registration Office to a more accessible 
location.   

ii. After speaking with Mr. Charlie Dane the Asst. City Manager, he assured 
the Board that Mr. Dane was in on-going negotiations with the persons at 
the Cavalier Square regarding a possible relocation there; also Mr. Dane 
would be looking at other possible locations per guidance from the local 
City Council. 

iii. Mr. Silvestro would keep the Board updated on any other new 
information. 

b. Registrar’s Report: 
i. Absentee voting was in full “swing.”   

ii. Voter Registration closed as of 5:00 p.m. on October 15, 2018 
iii. Training of Poll Workers and introduction of new Poll Workers applications 

for Board review and consideration. 
iv. Introduction of Mr. James Nickerson – Seasonal part time employee – Asst. 

Registrar for Coordination of Election. 
1. Duties would include assistance with the Board on Election day and 

the day after for the Canvass; assisting in the Community with 
Voter Registration of those who were elderly or otherwise confined 
and needed to register or apply to absentee vote. 



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

3 
 

Old Business: 

 None in the absence of the Secretary’s Report. 

 

New Business: 

a. Election Day is November 6, 2018; 
i. Public Works and School Officials have been notified to pick up 

voting materials and the canvass materials to be delivered to  
the Circuit Court after the Canvass was completed. 

b. Registrations; 
i. Closed.  Approximately 12, 072 voters on the books..  

c. Absentee Voting 
i. The office would be open on the last two Saturdays prior to 

Tuesdays Elections from 8:30 a.m . – 5:00 p.m. for Voting. 

Other Business and Public Comments: 

 Having no other business and/or public comments, the Board moved and properly 
seconded to enter into “closed” session.   

1. Upon a motion made by Electoral Board member David Silvestro, Chairman and 
seconded by Electoral Board member Patrick Washington, Chairman, the Electoral 
Board entered into “closed” session pursuant to Section 2.2-1711(A)(1) of the Code 
of Virginia to discuss, consider or interview of prospective candidates for 
employment, appointment or re-appointment of personnel.  New Poll Worker 
applications; and to consider the continued appointment of Poll Workers as needed 
for the November 6, 2018 General Election.  Performance reviews were considered. 

2. Upon a motion made by Chairman Patrick Washington, Chairman and seconded by 
Vice-Chairman David Silvestro,  and passed by a vote of the Electoral Board, the 
Electoral Board certified that only public business matters (1) lawfully exempted from 
open meeting requirements and (2) identified in the closed meeting motion 
discussion were discussed; the Electoral Board reconvened in open session. 

3. A motion to accept the Poll Worker list as presented by the Registrar was put on the 
floor by Chairman Patrick Washington.   

a. Patrick Washington – Yes 
b. David Silvestro – Yes  



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

4 
 

i. With the following amendment: to “re-visit” at a later date, the 
personnel matter discussed in closed session. 

 
4. Vice-Chairman David Silvestro motioned and Chairman Patrick Washington seconded; 

the motion to call for a “special” meeting to address the issues, should it become 
necessary. 

Upon a motion by Chairman, Patrick Washington and seconded by Mr. David Silvestro the 
meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:58 p.m. 

ADJOURNMENT:  7:58 P.M. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Patrick N. Washington, Chairman 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
David Silvestro, - Vice Chairman/Acting Secretary 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Herbert Townes - Secretary 

 

 

 



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

1 
 

MEETING OF THE ELECTORAL BOARD 

November 1, 2018 

MINUTES 

(1) Meeting was called to order at 7:00 PM 
 
(George Uzzle and Shelia Mickelson were added to the Electoral Board due to the suspension of 
Hebert Townes and David Silvestro.) 

(a) Pledge of Allegiance was led by new Member George Uzzle;  
(b) Invocation was given by Registrar Yolanda Stokes: 

 
(c) Roll Call: 

1. Patrick Washington  Present 
2. Sheila Mickelson  Present 
3. George Uzzle  Present 

(d) Quorum:  - Chairman Washington announced that a quorum has been met. 

(2) Motion to delay vote on the Minutes from August 22 and October 16 was unanimously 
approved in order to give the new members time to review them. 

(3) Reorganization of Board 

(a) Chairman Washington presented to the board for reorganization and in 
accordance to Code of Virginia 24.2-106 (b) that the chairman and secretary must 
be members of the different parties. 

(b) Nomination of Chairman – Member Mickelson nominated Member Uzzle for 
chairman, seconded by Chairman Washington. Member Uzzle was unanimously 
elected chairman. 

(c) The election of Uzzle as Chairman automatically places Washington as 
secretary and then places Member Mickelson as vice-chair. 

(4) Registrar’s Report 



CITY OF HOPEWELL 
ELECTORAL BOARD 

 
 

2 
 

(a) The Registrar gave update on the election day activities. She went over the 
training for the poll workers which was held at the GunCotton. She also presented 
applications of new poll workers. 

- Motion to accept new poll workers’ applications as presented by 
Registrar was approved unanimously. 

(5) Announcement of Canvass 

It was announced that the provisional hearing & canvass will be November 7, 2018 
beginning 10:00 AM at the Registrar’s Office, 245 East Broadway, Hopewell VA 23860 

(6) Next Regular meeting 

(a) Motion by Vice-Chair Mickelson to have a regular meeting on November 26 time to be 
determined so that we can review board reorganization, operating procedures, reporting, 
compliance with FOIA, meeting, agendas and review memorandum of understanding 
between Registrar and Electoral Board, election best practices and other matters 
pertaining to the operations of the board. 

 - Seconded by Secretary Washington and approved unanimously. 

(7) Adjournment 

(a) Motion to adjourn by Secretary Washington and seconded by Vice-Chair Mickelson, 
approved unanimously. Meeting adjourned at 8:24 PM. 

 

_______________________________________ 
George Uzzle, Chair 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Sheila Mickelson, Vice-Chair 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Patrick N. Washington, Secretary 



 
PROCLAMATIONS 

§ 
RESOLUTIONS  

§ 
PRESENTATIONS 

 



 

Proclamation 
O F F I C E  O F  M A Y O R  J A C K I E  S H O R N A K  

City of Hopewell, Virginia 
 

 
 
 
 
 

American Legion Centennial Day 
 

Whereas, The American Legion has been a staunch advocate for veterans and 
their families since 1919; and  

Whereas, The American Legion was founded on the four pillars of care for 
veterans, a strong national defense, Americanism, and children and 
youth; and 
 

Whereas, The American Legion has played a leading role in initiatives and 
breakthroughs that have affected the lives of Americans in every 
community, from U.S. Flag Code to the GI Bill; and 
 

Whereas, Hopewell Memorial Post 146 has fulfilled the Legion’s mission since 
1975 through programs such as Veterans Administration Assistance 
for local veterans and their families; sponsors candidates for Boys 
State, Girls State, and Virginia Law Enforcement Training Programs 
and provides educational scholarships; supports the Hopewell High 
School JROTC; conducts patriotic essay contests at the Carter G. 
Woodson Middle School, and provides continuing support for 
Hopewell's Police, Fire, and Recreation & Parks Departments, and 
Sheriff's Office; and initiated and coordinated the Hometown Heroes 
Recognition Program and Veteran's Day celebrations and; 
 

Whereas, The American Legion is celebrating its centennial in 2018-2019; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jackie M. Shornak, Mayor of the City of Hopewell do 

hereby proclaim November 30, 2018 as American Legion Centennial Day. 
 

 
N WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be 
affixed the Great Seal of the City of Hopewell in the Commonwealth of  

      Virginia, this 27th day of November, 2018. 
 
  

             
                          Jackie M. Shornak 

Mayor of the City of Hopewell 

I 



 

Proclamation 
O F F I C E  O F  M A Y O R  J A C K I E  S H O R N A K  

City of Hopewell, Virginia 
 

 
 
 
 
 

National Adoption Month 
Whereas, the health and safety of all Virginians is important to the happiness, prosperity, 

and well-being of our Commonwealth’s families and communities; and 
 

Whereas, every child in Virginia, regardless of physical, medical or emotional challenges, 
age or race, needs love, support, security and a place to call home; and 
 

Whereas, these children can thrive and reach their full potential when given a firm 
foundation and love from a family with a desire to parent a child who would 
otherwise not have permanency in their lives; and 
 

Whereas, in addition to adoption from foster care, it is appropriate to recognize those 
who have chosen other adoption options to build a family; and  
 

Whereas, it is important for every child who cannot be raised by a birth parent to find a 
permanent home because children have better outcomes when they are raised in 
families; and 
 

Whereas, there are more than 5,000 children in Virginia’s foster care program and more 
than 600 children have the goal of adoption and are available for placement in an 
adoptive home; and 
 

Whereas, not all children waiting to be adopted are newborns; many older youth who live in 
foster care desire to be adopted, just as many siblings who are separated in foster 
care long to be adopted by the same family, and all of these children want a sense 
of belonging that adoptive parents can provide; and 
 

Whereas, the collaboration of both public and private adoption agencies along with 
community agencies, religious organizations, and businesses, should be 
recognized for their commitment to the needs of the children throughout the 
Commonwealth; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jackie M. Shornak, Mayor of the City of Hopewell do hereby 

recognize November 2018 as Adoption Awareness Month in our City of Hopewell, Virginia, and I call 
this observance to the attention of all our citizens. 

 
 

N WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be 
affixed the Great Seal of the City of Hopewell in the Commonwealth of  

      Virginia, this 27th day of November, 2018. 
 
  

             
                          Jackie M. Shornak 

Mayor of the City of Hopewell 

I 



 

 

 

ADDITIONAL 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 



 

 

Holiday Boat Parade 

 

Saturday, December 1 
The James and Appomattox Rivers will twinkle and shine as boaters display their creativity and holiday spirit!  
Boats will depart from the Jordan Point Yacht Haven at 5:30 p.m. and will make their way upriver to Anchor 
Point Marina.  The Hopewell City Marina will serve as the main viewing area and will feature entertainment, 
food trucks, and other activities.  Parking at the marina is limited.  Overflow parking will be available at      
Weston Manor.  Interested boaters should contact Tabitha Martinez at tmartinez@hopewellva.gov. 
 

 
HOPEWELL RECREATION AND PARKS 



 

 

Light Up the Night 
Sunday, December 2 

Christmas Parade 
The parade will begin at 4:00 p.m. at Cavalier Square 
Shopping Center and will follow 15th Avenue, City 
Point Road, and Main Street to its terminus at the   
Ashford Civic Plaza.  Spectators can view the parade 
from any public property along the parade route.  Please 
respect private property and parking restrictions on the 
day of the parade.   
 

Grand Illumination 
The grand illumination of the Ashford Civic    
Plaza will take place following the conclusion of 
the parade.  A brief ceremony will be held on the 
front steps of City Hall along with a choral      
performance by students from Hopewell City 
Public Schools.  

 

Downtown Celebration 
Following the grand illumination of       
Ashford Civic Plaza, Hopewell’s downtown 
will come to life with a variety of exciting 
activities for the entire family!  Check out 
the Beacon Theatre for visits with Santa 
and musical performances.  Horse and     
carriage ridges, food vendors, and other   
activities will be provided by the Hopewell 
Downtown Partnership.  And don’t forget 
to stop in the Hopewell Library for         
children’s activities and more fun!  There is 
no better way to start your holiday season 
than by Lighting Up the Night in 
Hopewell! 

HOPEWELL RECREATION AND PARKS 



 
  

The Historic Beacon Theatre, 401 N. Main Street Hopewell, VA (804) 446-3457  
Friday, December 7, 2018 

7:30 p.m. (Doors open at 6:30 p.m.)  
Tickets will be distributed at the Theatre box office beginning Friday, November 30, 2018 

 



 
 



PUBLIC 
HEARINGS 

 



 
PH-1 

 



 
 
 
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Anthony J. Zevgolis, Ward #3   □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine E. Gore, Ward #4 

       
  
  

 

  
CITY OF HOPEWELL  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 
 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 

Civic Engagement 
Culture & Recreation  
Economic Development 
Education 
Housing 
Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 

Consent Agenda 
Public Hearing 
Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business 
Citizen/Councilor Request      
Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 

Approve and File  
Take Appropriate Action  
Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

 
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Public Hearing to consider citizen comments regarding a 
Conditional Use Permit to build a single family detached home on a non-conforming lot in the Residential, 
Medium Density District (R-2).  
 
ISSUE:  In order to build a single family detached home in the R-2 Zoning District on a non-conforming lot 
of record the owner must apply for a Conditional Use Permit and be approved for such permit by the City 
Council.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  The Hopewell Planning Commission held a public hearing on this matter on 
October 4, 2018.  The Commission voted 3-0 to recommend approval of the request for a Conditional Use 
Permit, with conditions. 
 
TIMING:   City Council will hold a public hearing to consider citizen comments on Tuesday, November 27, 
2018.   
 
BACKGROUND:  The property is located on Liberty Street in Ward 6.  It is approximately 6,000 square 
feet.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:    Property currently vacant.  A home on property would generate real estate taxes.   
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:    1. Staff Report  

2. Conditional Use Permit Application  
3. Map  
4. Pictures               
5. Renderings  
 

      
STAFF:       Tevya W. Griffin, Director, Department of Development  
          Chris Ward, Senior Planner 

 



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 1 

                                                            Agent: Barber Construction  
Sub-Parcel #035-0010, also identified as Lots 3-4, 
Block 5, Dupont Gardens, Section 2 
Conditional Use Permit 
Staff Report prepared for the City Council Regular Meeting 
 
 Last Revised November 19, 2018 

 
 
This report is prepared by the City of Hopewell Department of Development Staff to 
provide information to the Hopewell City Council to assist them in making an informed 
decision on this matter. 
 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

Planning Commission October 4, 2018 Recommended Approval 
City Council November 27, 2018 Pending 

 

II. IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATIONAL INFORMATION: 
 

Requested Zoning: N/A 

Existing Zoning: R-2, Residential, Medium Density 

Acreage: 6,000 square feet 

50’ wide, 120’ depth 

Owner: Joseph Walton 

Location of Property: Located on Liberty Street adjacent to 1816 Liberty 
Avenue  

Election Ward: Ward 6 

Land Use Plan Recommendation: Urban Residential 

Strategic Plan Goal: N/A 

Map Location(s): Sub Parcel #: 035-0010 

Zoning of Surrounding Property: North:  R-2 
South:  R-2  
East:    R-2  
West:   R-2 

III. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The City of Hopewell has received a request from Barber Construction for a Conditional 
Use Permit (CUP) in accordance with Article IV, Section I, Special Conditions for Non-
Conforming Lots, R-2, Medium Density Residential Zoning District, of the Hopewell 
Zoning Ordinance. The applicant is requesting to build a single family detached home on 



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 2 

Sub-Parcel #035-0010, further identified as LOTS 3-4 BLK 5 SUBDIVISION: DUPONT 
GARDENS, SECTION 2. 

 

IV. APPLICABLE CODE SECTIONS: 
The provisions of the Zoning Ordinance that are germane to this request for a Conditional 
Use Permit are the following: 

Article IV, Section I, Special Conditions for Non-conforming Lots 
For property consisting of less than seven thousand five hundred (7,500) square 
feet but five thousand (5,000) or more square feet and/or less than seventy (75) 
feet but fifty (50) feet or more of frontage, an applicant may appeal to City 
Council for a Conditional Use Permit as allowed in Section XVIII of the Zoning 
Ordinance for approval to construct a single family dwelling on such lot in 
accordance with the procedures given in Section XVIII of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Article XVIII, General Provisions, Section G, Conditional and Special Use Permits, Sub-
Section c. 1-3: 
 

1. When the Director has certified that the application is complete, it shall be 
deemed received and referred to the Planning Commission for its review and 
recommendation to City Council.  

 
2. The Planning Commission shall, within ninety (90) days after the first 

meeting of the Planning Commission after such referral, report to the City 
Council its recommendation as to the approval or disapproval of such 
application and any recommendation for establishment of conditions, in 
addition to those set forth in this Article, deemed necessary to protect the 
public interest and welfare. Failure of the Planning Commission to report 
within ninety (90) days shall be deemed a recommendation of approval.  

 
3. Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning Commission, the City 

Council, after public notice in accordance with Virginia Code § 15.2-2204, 
shall hold at least one public hearing on such application, and as a result 
thereof, shall either approve or deny the request.  

 
Article XVIII, General Provisions, Section G, Sub-Section c.4. 
  

4. In approving any conditional use permit, the City Council may impose 
conditions or limitations on any approval as it may deem necessary to 
protect the public interest and welfare.  Such additional standards may 
include, but need not be limited to: 

 
i. Special setbacks, yard or construction requirements, increased 

screening or landscaping requirements, area requirements, 
development phasing, and standards pertaining to traffic, 



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 3 

circulation, noise, lighting, hours of operation and similar 
characteristics; and 
 

ii. A performance guarantee, acceptable in form, content and amount 
to the City, posted by the applicant to ensure continued compliance 
with all conditions and requirements as may be specified.  

Article XVIII, General Provisions, Section G, Sub-Section d. 
 

d. Approval Criteria 
 

As may be specified within each zoning district, uses permitted subject to 
conditional use review criteria shall be permitted only after review by the 
Planning Commission and approval by the City Council only if the applicant 
demonstrates that:  
 
1. The proposed conditional use is in compliance with all regulations of the 

applicable zoning district, the provisions of this Article, and any 
applicable General Provisions as set forth in the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

2. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the proposed use is not 
detrimental to, and will not endanger, the public health, safety, morals, 
comfort, or general welfare. 
 

3. The conditional use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor 
substantially impair the use of other property within the immediate 
proximity. 
 

4. The proposed conditional use conforms to the character of the 
neighborhood within the same zoning district in which it is located. The 
proposal as submitted or modified shall have no more adverse effects on 
health, safety or comfort of persons living or working in or driving 
through the neighborhood, and shall be no more injurious to property or 
improvements in the neighborhood, than would any other use generally 
permitted in the same district. In making such a determination, 
consideration shall be given to the location, type, size, and height of 
buildings or structures, type and extent of landscaping and screening on 
the site, and whether the proposed use is consistent with any theme, 
action, policy or map of the Comprehensive Plan.  
 

5. The exterior architectural appeal and function plan of any proposed 
structure will not be so at variance with either the exterior architectural 
appeal and functional plan of the structures already constructed or in the 
course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of 
the applicable zoning district, and shall enhance the quality of the 
neighborhood.   



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 4 

6. The public interest and welfare supporting the proposed conditional use is 
sufficient to outweigh the individual interests which are adversely affected 
by the establishment of the proposed use.  
  

7. The proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of any 
feature determined to be of significant ecological, scenic or historic 
importance.  

 

V. SUBJECT PROPERTY: 
The vacant lot in question is located on Liberty Avenue adjacent to 1816 Liberty. The 
property is approximately 6,000 square feet and has 60 feet of frontage along Liberty.  It 
is zoned R-2, and is surround by R-2 zoned property to the north, south, east and west. 

 

VI. ZONING/STAFF ANALYSIS: 
Article IV, Section I of the Zoning Ordinance allows a property owner with a non-
conforming lot of record in the R-2 zoning district to appeal to the Planning Commission 
and City Council for approval of a Conditional Use Permit to construct a single family 
dwelling on a non-conforming lot consisting of less than 7,500 square feet but at least 
5,000 square feet and/or less than 75 feet but at least 50 feet or more of frontage.   

The subject property is non-conforming because it has 50’ feet of frontage and is 6,000 
square feet. The property meets the criteria to apply for a Conditional Use Permit.   

The attached table provides characteristics of the housing stock within the neighborhood. 
Staff used architectural elements that were consistent in the homes in the neighborhood to 
provide recommendations for conditions in accordance with Article XVIII, Section G, 
sub-section d. of the Hopewell Zoning Ordinance.  

Proposed conditions can require a use to conform to the character of the neighborhood 
within the same zoning district in which it is located.  Conditions may also dictate the 
architectural style of a proposed structure to ensure it will not be a variance with either 
the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already constructed 
in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the applicable zoning district.  

The average square feet of homes surveyed is 1,389.  The average number of bedrooms is 
three (3) and the average number of baths is two (2).  Vinyl and brick siding is a common 
exterior building material used on homes located on Liberty Street.  The applicant 
proposes to build a 1,300 square foot home with three (3) bedrooms and two (2) full 
baths.  The exterior siding would be vinyl with a porch and deck on the side. A pictorial 
example of the home has been provided in this packet.  

 

VII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
The Staff sees no reason why a single family detached home cannot be built on the 
parcel.  The parcel is zoned for this use and is surrounded by the same.  Furthermore the 
Comprehensive Plan designates this areas as Urban Residential categorized by detached 
homes 1,000-3,000 square feet in size on small to medium lots.  The applicant is willing 



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 5 

to build a 1,300 square foot home.   Since the homes on the street are one and two story 
homes, the one story home provided is compatible.   

At the Planning Commission level the single family detached home proposed by the 
applicant lacked architectural appeal and material variation.  Staff has been working with 
the agent to provide a more architectural appealing exterior.  The applicant is willing to 
meet the following conditions: 

Conditions imposed by the Planning Commission  
 

1. The exterior material of the proposed single-family dwelling shall be two 
materials with varying facades; 

2. The proposed single-family dwelling shall have a brick foundation on all four (4) 
sides. A brick foundation consists of foundation block from the block work to the 
first floor elevation with brick veneer;  

3. Tree and shrubs presently located on the property shall be preserved to the highest 
extent possible, except,  if located within the proposed building footprint;  

4. The single-family dwelling shall have a minimum of 1,300 square feet of finished 
living area; 

5. The proposed single-family dwelling shall have a brick porch. A brick porch 
includes the steps, treads, risers, floor and side veneer.  A brick porch consists of 
a concrete porch. The porch should be enclosed from the ground level to the 
finished floor elevation with block and brick enclosure 

6. The architecture of the home shall be compatible with the surrounding homes.  
The agent will work with City Staff to build a home that is some variation of the 
three examples provided by Staff (see examples enclosed in this packet). 

7. The driveway must be located on the same side as the porch.  

 

VIII. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At their meeting on October 4, 2018 the Hopewell Planning Commission voted 3-0 to 
approve the Conditional Use Permit with seven conditions.  

 

IX. CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION: 
In accordance with Article XVIII, Section G, of the Hopewell Zoning Ordinance, the 
Hopewell City Council votes ___ - ___ to (approve) (approve with conditions) (deny) the 
request submitted by Barber Construction for a Conditional Use Permit for Sub-Parcel 
035-0010, also identified as Lot 3-4, Block 5, Dupont Gardens, Section 2.   
 
Attachment(s): 

1. Application for Conditional Use Permit 
2. Aerial Map 
3. Pictures (Proposed home, homes along Liberty Street, and Staff 

recommendations) 



Case: CUP submitted by Barber Construction for Sub-Parcel #035-0010 Page 6 

 
 

AERIAL MAP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Sub-Parcel # 035-0010  







Vacant Parcel #0350010



Home proposed by the applicant during the Planning Commission review process



Home proposed by the applicant during the Planning Commission review process



1817 Liberty Ave.



1822 Liberty Ave.



1821 Liberty Ave.



1816 Liberty Ave.



1899 Liberty Ave.



1904 Liberty Ave.



Liberty Ave. (South)



Liberty Ave. (North)



1899 Liberty Ave.



1901 Liberty Ave.



1904 Liberty Ave.



2711 Basset St.



2001 Liberty Ave.



1909 Liberty Ave.



2610 Bassett St.



Staff suggested Home #1


